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February 20, 1996

;

EA 96 016

Mr. JesGs N. Osorio
[HOME ADDRESS DELETED

1UNDER 10 CFR 2.290]

SUBJECT: NRC INSPECTION REPORT N0. 52-19438 01/93 02 AND
0FFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS REPORT NO. 2-93 072

Dear Mr Osorio:

The NRC Office of Investigations (01) recently completed an investigation of i

NDT Services, Inc.'s (NDTS) use of licensed materials during the aerformance )
of radiographic operations in the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico. T11s |
investigation was initiated following a December 1993 NRC inspection which
reviewed the September 4,1993, source retrieval event at the Sun Oil Refinery I
in Yabucca, Puerto Rico, involving NDTS. The 01 investigation sought to .

ldetermine whether: (1) NDTS used unqualified persons to perform gamma
radiography on September 4,1993, at the Sun Oil Refinery: (2) whether NDTS
provided falsified documentation to NRC inspectors in order to establish the
qualifications of the radiographers; and (3) whether the radiographers
performed radiography on September 4, 1993, without using the required
alarming ratemeters.

The 01 investigation concluded the following: (1) NDTS, with the knowledge and
approval of the former Radiation Safety Officer (RS0) and former President.
deliberately utilized radiographers untrained in NDTS operating and emergency
procedures; (2) NDTS, through the actions of the former RSO, provided the NRC
with documentation that falsely certified the radiographers' training: (3) the
radiographers knew, or should have known, of their deficiency in complying
with NRC training recuirements: and (4) the radiographers failed to wear
alarming ratemeters curing radiography conducted on September 4,1993.

A copy of the report of our December -1993 inspection, as well as the
synopsis of the 01 Report, dated December 21, 1995, are provided as
Enclosures 1 and 2, respectively.

Based on the results of the 01 investigation and our earlier inspection,
apparent violations of NRC requirements were identified. These findings
included apparent violations for NDTS and the individuals involved in the
event. Specifically, regarding your personal actions. 01 concluded that you
deliberately permitted unqualified radiographers to perform work at the Sun
Oil Refinery on September 4,1993, and you deliberately provided false
information to the NRC. Regarding the latter, two examples were identified as i

follows: )
1

1. On December 16, 1993., you knowingly provided an NRC inspector records of
personnel qualifications signed by you which indicated that the
qualification of two radiographers on September 3,1993 were based on
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records provided by the individuals' previous employer and experience
demonstrated to you. In fact, there were no existing records to justify :

their qualifications as radiographers under the license at the time you
signed the document and no demonstration of experience was performed
prior to you signing the document.

2. On December 16, 1993, you told to an NRC inspector that you had
demonstrated the safe use of the NDTS radiography equipment, and allowed
radiographers to operate this equipment on September 3, 1993, when in
fact you did not.

These examples constitute apparent violations of 10 CFR 30.10. Deliberate i

Misconduct, which is enclosed for your reference. 10 CFR 30.10 prohibits a |

licensee or any employee of a licensee from engaging in deliberate misconduct i

that causes the licensee to be in violation of any rule or regulation, in this !
case 10 CFR 34.31(a), " Training." !

l

The apparent violations are being considered for escalated enforcement in i
accordance with the " General Statement of Policy and Procedure for NRC |

Enforcement Actions" (Enforcement Policy). NUREG-1600, a copy of which is also j

enclosed for your reference. In addition, enforcement action is being !

considered against NDTS and the former President as well as the radiographers I
involved in the September 4,1993 event. |

IBefore the NRC makes its final enforcement decision, we provided you an
opportunity to 3articipate in a joint predecisional enforcement conference
with NDTS and t1e other individuals involved in this case to discuss the,

apparent violations. Based on a telephone conversation between you and
Mr. John Potter of my staff on February 15, 1996, you declined to attend a
conference.

In accordance with the Enforcement Policy, you are afforded an opportunity for
a predecisional enforcement conference prior to the NRC making a final
decision regarding any escalated enforcement action. Therefore, if you are
unable to attend the scheduled conference, you should promptly contact us to
schedule a conference at another date and time. If you choose not to attend
the conference, you should notify this office in writing of your intent within
seven days of your receipt of this letter. If you should decide not to
attend a conference, the NRC will proceed based on the relevant information
available to us. In addition, you have the right to bring a personal
representative or legal counsel. However, if you desire to bring another
person, the individual should contact the NRC in advance of the conference.

Your attention is directed to Section V of the Enforcement Policy, which*

explains the purpose of predecisional enforcement conferences and Section
VIII, which explains enforcement actions involving individuals. Note that the
enforcement sanctions that could be considered include a Letter of Reprimand,

i a Notice of Violation and/or Order prohibiting or restricting your involvement
in NRC licensed activities.
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The decision to hold a conference with you does not mean that the NRC has
determined that violations have occurred or that enforcement action will be i

taken. A conference is held to obtain information to enable the NRC to make |
an enforcement decision, such a common understanding of the facts, root
causes, missed opportunities to identify the apparent violation sooner.
corrective actions, significance of the issues and the need for lasting and
effective corrective action. In addition, it is an opportunity for you to
provide any information concerning your perspectives on the severity of the
violations, and application of mitigation factors discussed in the Enforcement |

Policy, including the exercise of discretion in accordance with Section VII.
NDTS representatives and the other individuals involved in this case have also
been requested to attend a predecisional enforcement conference. The
conferences will be closed to the public and transcribed.

!In addition, please be advised that the number and characterization of the
apparent violations described here may change as a result of further NRC
review of this matter. You will be advised by separate correspondence of the
results of our deliberations on this matter. No response regarding the
apparent violations is required at this time. |

|

At the conclusion of NRC deliberations on this matter, in accordance with |
10 CFR 2.790 of the NRC's " Rules of Practice," a co)y of this letter, with i

your home address deleted, and its enclosures will ae placed in the NRC Public
Document Room.

.

We request that you notify us within seven days of receipt of this letter
concerning your decision to attend, or not attend the scheduled conference.

Should you have any questions concerning this matter or the scheduled
conference. please telephone Mr. John Potter collect at (404) 331 4503 or
5571.

Sincerely.

Bruce S. Mallett. Director
Division of Nuclear Materials Safety

Enclosures: 1. Inspection Report No. 52 19438 01/93-02
2. Investigation Report No. 2 93 072
3. 10 CFR 30.10. Deliberate Misconduct
4. NUREG-1600

.._____-_ -
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Docket No. 030-17711
-

License No. 52-19438-01
EA 94-029. -

NOT Services, Inc.
c/o Crossland Boiler Sales and Service, Inc.
ATTN: Mr. Mark Jenson

President
Scotia Bank Plaza Office #730
273-Ponce de Le6n Avenue
Hato Rey, PR 00918

Gentlemen: .

SUBJECT: (NRC INSPECTION REPORT NO. 52-19438-01/93-02)

This refers to the inspection conducted by Mr. H. Bermudez of this office at
your site on December 16-17, 1993 and the review of documents in the Region II
Office on December 29-30, 1993. The inspection included a review of
activities authorized for your Caguas facility. At the conclusion of the
inspection, the findings were discussed with you. As a result of the findings
of the' inspection, a Confirmatory Action Letter was sent to you on
December 30, 1993.

The inspection consisted of an examination of activities conducted under your
license with respect to radiation safety and compliance with NRC regulations
and the conditions of your license. It included selective examinations of
procedures and representative records, interviews with personnel, and direct
observations by the inspector.

The inspection findings indicate that certain of your activities appeared to
be in violation of NRC requirements. Of particular concern were the conduct
of licensed activities by technically unqualified individuals and the failure
to perform adequate radiation surveys during the recovery of a radioactive

The apparent violations described in the enclosed inspection reportsource.
are under consideration' for escalated enforcement action. Accordingly, a
Notice of Violation is not being issued at this time, and a response to this
letter is not-required. However, please be advised that the number and
characterization of. apparent violations described in the enclosed inspection
report may change as a result of further NRC review.

In accordance with -10 CFR 2.790 of the NRC's " Rules of Practice," a copy of
this letter,~its enclosure, and any reply will be placed in the NRC Public
Document Room.

ENCLOSURE 1

4y &tL. n CV 3,p.
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Should you have any questions concerning this letter, please contact us.

Sincerely,

?,
-

h li tohr, Director.

Di ision Radiation Safety
and Safeguards

Enclosure:
NRC Inspection Report

cc w/ encl:
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico 1

.
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Report No. 52-19438-01/93-02

Licence No. 52-19438-01 Docket No. 030-17711
J

; Licensee: NDT Services, Inc. ~
.

Caguas, Puerto Rico
,

Inspection conducted: December 16-17 and 29-30, 1993

Inspector: ! #'f
-

_

H. BermQdez, Sr. Radiation Specialist Date Signed

' T/5 'fApproved By: -
'

C. Hosey, Chief Date Signed
Nuclear Materials Inspection Section
Nuclear Materials Safety and Safeguards Branch
Division of Radiation Safety and Safeguards

SUMMARY

Scope:

This special, announced inspection of activities conducted under
NRC License No. 52-19438-01 was conducted to review the
circumstances surrounding an incident involving the failure of a
radiography source to retract to the safe position. Areas
inspected included a review of the organization and

. administration of the licensed program, radiation safety
training, personnel radiation protection, vnd transportation of
radioactive materials.

Results:

Significant weaknesses were identified in the licensed program.
.

The failures to perform required radiation safety activities and
to take effective corrective action to prevent the recurrence of
a previously identified violation appear to_ result from-

inadequate involvement of licensee management in the oversight of
,the program. Of particular concern were the conduct of licensed

activities by technically unqualified individuals and the failure
to perform adequate radiation surveys during the recovery of the
radioactive source.

,

' Within the scope of the inspection, the following apparent
violations were identified:

Use of licensed material by individuals who had not been-

trained in the provisions of 10 CFR 34.31 and as specified
in the license application dated December 3, 1991.

kifp%f$ D D "j C~ gy .-
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Failure to conduct adequate radiation surveys to assure-

compliance with the applicable parts of 10 CFR 20.101 that
.limit the radiation exposure to the whole body and the '

extremities.
,

Failure to maintain emergency procedures to include the-

handling of sealed sources, methods and occasions for ~~

conducting radiation surveys, the use of personnel
monitoring equipment, and minimizing the exposure of persons
in the event of an accident involving the inability to
retract a sealed source to its safe position.

Failure to require that individuals disclose occupational-

radiation exposures received from sources of radiation
controlled by other persons during the calendar quarter in
which the licensee allowed access into the licensee's i

restricted area. :

Failure to maintain an approved quality assurance programA-

for the transport of Type B packages, a repeat finding from
an inspection conducted on June 16, 1993.

1

.

1

i

:

4

4
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j Report Details
'

i

1. Persons Contacted
2

; T. Crossland, Owner
. 9J. de Arce, Industrial Hygienist, Puerto Rico Sun Oil Co.

*M. Janson, President
; *J. Osorio, Rad *ation Safety Officer

C. Pizarro, Radiographer i
~*

i +D. Vigne, Radiation Safety Officer, National Inspection
Consultants, Inc., Fort Myers, Florida

* Attended exit interview,

3 0 By telephone on December 30, 1993
,

+ By telephone on December 29, 1993
'

2. Program Scope and Licensee Organization

j License No. 52-19438-01 was originally issued on August 21,
; 1980, and was most recently renewed on February 26, 1992.
1 The licenso allows the possession and use of cobalt-60 and
; iridium-192 sealed sources in industrial radiography at

temporary job sites. The licensee, NDT Services, Inc., was;

owned by Crossland Boiler Sales & Service, Inc., a:

manufacturer of tanks and boilers. At the time of the
inspection the licensee's Radiation Safety' Officer (RSO) was;

3 the lead radiographer, supervised three additional ,

radiographers and reported to the company president. In
addition to radiography, the licensee performed other types,

| of non-destructive inspections. Radiographic operations
were a small portion of the licensee's activities.

3. Sequence of Events Surrounding the Incident

! Through review of records, a re-enactment of the incident
i and interviews with licensee representatives and other
; individuals related to the incident the inspector determined
: the following:

The licensee was asked by a refinery subcontractor to
'

; provide radiography services during a refinery outage which
j required more manpower than the licensee had available. The
'

licensee committed to provide the services relying on
| another radiography company from the mainland to provide the
4 needed manpower. The licensee's president contacted a

colleague at the other company and requested the company
supplied two individuals to cover the job.- Believing that
the licensee was going to train the two individuals per the

i licensee's specific license requirements and properly-
qualify them as radiographers, the company supplied the two
individuals. The two supplied individuals were not
qualified as radiographers or radiographer's assistants per
the supplying company's license and approved training,

program, nor were they authorized to conduct licensed
,

.

i

i
. _ , _ _ _ _ _ _ _.
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L activities under the company's license. Believing that the !
individuals were qualified radiographers, on September 3,;

1993, the licensee's RSO gave the individuals a
,
=

demonstration on how to use the radiography equipment, ,

,

allowed them to handle the equipment, and qualified them as ,

radiographers with no further training or examinations.
,,

' On the morning of September 4, 1993, the individuals arrived .

1 at the refinery and began setting up the equipment at the-
|- designated work location. While setting up the equipment,
i one of the individuals failed to connect the " pig tail" (to
i which the radioactive source is attached) to the cable used
i to expose and retract the source (the drive cable); the i

i individual only connected the drive cable conduit (through
,~

which the drive cable travels) to the exposure device.
During the first exposure, the drive cable pushed the 75-
curie iridium-192 source to the end of the source guide
tube, exposing the source, but was unable to retract the-

source because the source was not connected to the drive4

cable. After several unsuccessful attempts to retract the
source to the shielded position, the individuals contacted a,

licensee radiographer who was at a different location in the.

refinery, who contacted the licensee's president, who in;
; turn contacted the RSO. The radiographer and refinery'

safety personnel extended the restricted area boundary lines |

| to where radiation levels measured two millirema per hour
and ensured that all personnel within the newly defined,

| restricted area had been evacuated. Licensee and refinery
! safety personnel maintained control of the restricted area

J- for the duration of the event.

j Due to the remote location of the refinery relative to the
4 location of the RSO when the RSO was notified of the
| problem, it took him approximately three hours to arrive at

the site with the necessary equipment. The RSO noted that,e

i as he made his first approach to the area where the source
i was located, radiation levels were such that they caused his
3 survey instrument reading to go off-scale and caused his

alarming ratemeter to alarm. The RSO did not evaluate the
; extent of radiation hazards that were present prior to

attempting the source recovery even though he knew that4

radiation levels were higher than what he was able to.

measure. In a series of approximately seven entries to the
immediate vicinity of the source, and with the use of a
remote-handling tool on one occasion, the RSO freed the
source guide tube containing the source, forced the source
to the opposite end of the guide tube exposing the source

i " pig tail," connected the " pig tail" to the drive cable and
retracted the source.to the shielded position. The RSO was,

~

wearing his film badge on his shirt pocket and, during
several steps of the recovery, the film badge was shielded
by other parts of his body which were closer to the source.

i-

$

.. - -. _ - ..
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The RSO did not evaluate the exposure rate at the " pig tail"
prior to connecting the " pig tail" to the drive cable, nor
did he evaluate the exposure his hands received while making

; the connection. Also, the RSO did not check his pocket
dosimeter until the and of the source recovery, when he

1 noted it was off-scale. The licensee immediately sent the
film badges of all personnel involved in the incident for ~~

processing by its dosimetry vendor.

4. Consequences.

i The radiation exposures of the licensee individuals not
; directly involved in the source recovery were well within

regulatory requirements. The highest recorded exposure of4

the licensee individuals was 190 millirems. The RSO's'

j recorded exposure was also 190 millirems. However, based on
a re-enactment of the incident and discussions with the RSO, I

the inspector determined that unmonitored parts of the RSO'si

whole body received exposures of up to 500 millirems. The i

I: estimated highest exposure of the RSO during the incident
added to other occupational exposures received by the RSO+

during the third quarter of 1993 was 550 millirems, which
was below the regulatory limit of 1250 millirems per,

! quarter. Based on discussions with licensee representatives
and personnel from the refinery's health and safety staff
who responded to the event, the inspector determined that no
refinery personnel or other members of the public received

1 any measurable radiation exposure as a result of the
; incident.

5. Licensee Response to the Event and Corrective Actions
!

As noted above, after realizing that the source was not
j retracting to the shielded position, the individuals warned
: people in their immediate area and notified a licensee !

radiographer who was in another area of the refinery. The I
licensee radiographer unsuccessfully attempted to retract '

,

i the source and notified the subcontractor, who notified
refinery safety personnel of the problem. The radiographera

also notified licensee management. The licensee's president;

i . notified the RSO, who gathered the necessary equipment and
responded to the event. Although the RSO reacted promptly
to the event, for reasons beyond his control he did not
arrive at the refinery until three hours after the incident
began. During that time, refinery safety personnel assumed
the lead for extending the boundaries of the restricted area,

and controlling the area. The use of remote-handling tools.

during the source retrieval was a major contributor to the'

relatively low radiation exposure received by the RSO. The
two individuals involved in the incident were instructed to'

. return to the mainland. The licensea submitted the required

] incident report to the NRC within the required time frame.

.

5
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| 6 .. Regulatory Issues Associated With the Incident
.

: Condition 12 of License No. 52-19438-01 requires that
i licensed material be used by, or under the supervision and
; in the physical presence of, individuals who have been

trained as specified in the application dated December 3,
1991 and the provisions of 10 CFR 34.31. 10 CFR 34.31(a)

~~

requires, in part, that the licensee not permit any
'

individual to act as a radiographer until such individual:
has been instructed in the subjects outlined in Appendix A
of 10 CFR Part 34; has received copies of and instructions

! in NRC regulations contained in 10 CFR Part 34 and in the
applicable sections of 10 CFR Parts 19 and 20, NRC license

; under which the radiographer will perform radiography and
; the licensee's operating and emergency procedures; and has i

demonstrated understanding of the instructions in this j,

| paragraph by successful completion of a written test on the I

; subjects covered. The failure to train two individuals as
! specified in the licensee's approved training program
- submitted in the application dated December 3, 1991, and
} allowing the individuals to act as radiographers using
! licensed material without receiving the training specified
'

in 10 CFR 34.31 was identified as an apparent violation of
; Condition 12 of License No. 52-19438-01.
.

| 10 CFR 20.201(b) requires that the licensee make such
j surveys as may be necessary to comply with the requirements
'

of Part 20 and which may be reasonable under the
)

i circumstances to evaluate the extent of radiation hazards
which may be present. As defined in 10 CFR 20.201(a),*

i " survey" means an evaluation of the radiation hazards
incident to the production, use, release, disposal or j;

4 presence of radioactive materials or other sources of )
radiation under a specific set of conditions. As discussed ;

in Section 3 above, the licensee did not make surveys to |

assure compliance with the applicable parts of 10 CFR 20.1011

! that limit the radiation exposure to the whole body and the
! extremities. Specifically, (1) During a source retrieval
| event on September 4, 1993, the licensee's Radiation Safety

Officer (RSO) knew that his survey instrument indicated that
radiation levels were above the instrument's range and hisa

alarm ratemeter, preset at 500 millirems per hour, was
alarming during his first approach to the event area and
failed to evaluate the radiation levels to which his whole
body and extremities were to be exposed; (2) As of December
17, 1993, the licensee had not evaluated the exposure to the
extremities of the RSO as a result of the source retrieval

*

event; (3) As of December 17, 1993, the licensee's
evaluation of the RSO's exposure to the whole body was 1,

| inadequate in that the film badge used to assess the RSO's
'

exposure was worn in such a way that it was shielded by
parts of the body during the retrieval event, and the RSO

:

- -. --
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| failed to wear the film badge in that portion of the whole
body likely to receive the highest exposure. These three'

issues were identified as three examples of an apparent
violation of 10 CFR 20.201(b).;

<

j 10 CFR 34.32 requires, in part, that the licensee retain a
,,

1 copy of current operating and emergency procedures which
include instructions in, among others, the handling of

,

; sealed sources such that no person is likely to be exposed
J to radiation doses in excess of the limits established in 10
j CFR 20, methods and occasions for conducting radiation

survoys, the use of personnel monitoring equipment, and,

! minimizing exposure of persons in the event of an accident.
i While reviewing the implementation of the licensee's program
| as it applied to the incident the inspector determined that,
; as of December 17, 1993, the licensee's emergency procedures
: did not include instructions in the handling of sealed
t sources, methods and occasions for conducting radiation
j surveys, the use of personnel monitoring equipment and

minimizing exposure of persons in the event of an accident
involving the inability to retrieve a sealed source to itsi

safe position. The failure to have written procedures on
how to perform a source retrieval addressing the above areas
was identified as an apparent violation of'10 CFR 34.32.

7. Other Regulatory Issues
,

10 CFR 20.102(a) requires, in part, that the licensee'

i require any individual, prior to first entry into the
i licensee's restricted area during each employment or wcrk
; assignment under such circumstances that the individual is

likely to receive in any period of one calendar quarter ani

; occupational dose in excess 25 percent of the applicable
; standards specified in 10 CFR 20.101(a), to disclose a
j written, signed statement indicating either: (1) That the

individual had no prior occupational dose during the current
,

i calendar quarter, or (2) the nature and amount of any
I occupational dose which the individual may have received

during that specifically identified current calendar quarter3

from sources of radiation possessed or controlled by other
persons. While reviewing the incident, the inspector1

determined that, on September 4, 1993, the licensee allowed
the two individuals involved in the event to perform
radiographic operations under circumutances that the

; individuals were likely to receive occupational doses in
j excess of 25 percent of the applicable standards specified
| in 10 CFR 20.101(a) in a calendar quarter without requiring
i that the individuals disclose the required written statement
; indicating the nature of any occupational expcsures received
! during the quarter. The failure to require the individuals
; to disclose the written statement specified above was

identified as an apparent violation of 10 CPR 20.102(a).a

.

b

1
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10 CFR 71.12 states, in part, that a general license to
,

transport licensed material, or to deliver licensed material
to a carrier for transport, applies only to a licenses who
has a quality assurance program approved by the Commission

i as satisfying the provisions of Subpart H of 10 CFR Part 71.
a While reviewing the. licensee's program the inspector
; determined that, as of December 17, 1993, the licensee --

routinely transported licensed material under the general
'

! lic1nse pursuant to 10 CFR 71.12, and the licensee did not
have a quality assurance program approved by the Commission.

i Specifically, the licensee's quality assurance program
. ;

'

expired in 1989. The licensee was cited for failing to meet'

the stated requirement during an NRC inspection conducted on
,

: June 16, 1993. Licensee management indicated that the l
'

failure to submit for NRC approval a quality assurance
program for their transportation packages satisfying the'

'

provisions on Subpart H of 10 CFR 71 was due to a
misunderstanding of the requirement, and that they will

3

expedite the submittal of the required program for NRC
approval. The failure to maintain an approved quality
assurance program to satisfy the provisions of Subpart H of
10 CFR 71 was identified as an apparent repeat violation of
10 CFR 71.12.;

'
8. Exit Interview

:

: The inspection scope and results were summarized in an exit
1 interview with those individuals identified in Section 1 of'

this report. The inspector reviewed the program areas
,

inspected and discussed in detail the inspection findings.,

The NRC's enforcement policy was reviewed with licensee3

representatives. The inspector reminded licensee management,

that the NRC expects licensee management to be ultimately ;
,

responsible for all activities conducted under the NRC'

j license. Licensee management acknowledged the NRC's
i concerns regarding the need for better oversight of licensed

activities. Licensee representatives did not provide
dissenting comments relative to the apparent violations'

discussed in this report. Proprietary information is not
; contained in'this report.

In addition, the results of this inspection were discussed
in a telephone convernation between Mr. Mark Jenson of NDT-

Services, Inc. and Mr. Douglas Collins of this office on
: December 30, 1993. The initial corrective actions to the

inspection findings, discussed during this call, were
',

documented in a Confirmatory Action Letter dated
,

December 30, 1993.
:
a
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SYN 0PSIS

The U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC). Office of Investigations (01).
Region II Field Office, initiated this investigation on December 30, 1993.
The investigation examines whether NDT Services. Inc. (NDTS), Caguas.
Puerto Rico, utilized unqualified personnel to perform gamma radiography on
September 4.1993, at the Sun Oil refinery. Yabucca, Puerto Rico. The
investigation further addresses whether NDTS provided NRC inspectors with
falsified documentation in an effort to establish the qualifications of the
radiographers and whether.radiogra)hers performed radiography without the-

protection of alarm ratemeters. T1ese issues surfaced as a result of a source
; retrieval event which resulted in the evacuation of the Sun Oil refinery. The

source retrieval event additionally brought to light a number of other*

concerns which the NRC inspection staff addressed independently.
;

Based on evidence developed and reviewed during this investigation 01
determined NDTS deliberntely utilized radiographers, that lacked training in
NDTS' operating and emergency procedures, to oerform gamma radiography. 01
further determined NDTS, through actions of t1e radiation safety officer.
provided the NRC with documentation which falsely certified the radiographers'
training. Additionally. 01 determined the subject radiographers performed
gamma radiography and knew or should have known the NRC training requirements
and their deficiency in meeting those requirements. OI further determined the
radiographers performed radiography without wearing alarm ratemeters.

.
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30.7(d) . = 30.10(c)
PART 30 o RULES OF GENERAL APPUCABluTY TO DOMESTIC UCENSING-

(d) Actions teken by an employer, or '"|sta inessissessieassammeosen d ched y ab an uge mentei M gaseseL <bi Each appheant or heensee shall
MP oyee may be predicated uponl noufy the commission of intormauon
nondiscriminatory grounds.N ,.k)h Neeleer Regelatery 6denurled by the appucant or heenanhas h hprohibition epplies when the adverse N I"I'" *"** '*'"**'' sismiscant implicauon for pubue

as havins for the resulated acuvity a

action oa:urs bemuse the employee has emata and la e part to the OSles of health and safety or common defenseengaged in pmteded acuvities. M g h4esagementandBudget(OMB)for and security. An appucant or heensee

g emp oyee.e engagement in protected S appmel es vegetred by the paperwerk violates this parasraph only if the ap-
g

activities does not automaucelly render
g him or herimmune frorn discharge or g Redushes Amt of1980 M.S.C.3M et pucant or ucensee fans to noufy the

commiasion of informauon that the
f discipline for le$timate reasons or from eo6 M has eyeveMe informanos

Q appheant or heensee has 6dentitled as3 edverse salon dictated by couecten mgeomente contained la this havms a significant impitenuon for

Part under coetml number 31M7. g pubhc heatth and safety or common
nonp(rohibited considerations. a defense and security. Notificauon(e) 1) Each specific licensee, each -

w shnu be provided to the Administrator
applicant for a specific license, and each

*I
general licensee sub>ct to part 19 shall wnth n two w r in da so nt fyin

prominently post the revision of NRC the mformauon. This requirement is-

Form J." Notice to Dnployees.** (b)The approved information not appucable to mformauon which is

referenced in to CFR 19.11(c). collection #*Suirements contained in
ainady neuind to be omnded to the
Commission by other reporuns or up.

_
this part appear in 55 30.9. 30.11. 30.15 datin, reauirements.
30.19,30.20,30.32,30.34,30.35,30.38. _(2) W posting of NRC Form 3 must 30.37,30.38,30.41,30.50,30.51,30.55,

be et locations suffldent to permit
employees pmtected by this section to and Appendix A.
observe a copy on the way to or from (c) This part contains information
their place of work. Premises must be collection requirements in addition to
posted not later than 30 days after an 3 those approved under the control
epplicauon is docketed and remain 3 number spectfled in paragraph (a) of f 30.10 Dettberste misconduct.O posted while the apphcation is pending cc this section. These information

a) nm M any mpW o[ a 4

4

0 before the Commission, during the term " collection re9uirements and the control licensee: and any contractor (including a$
$ of the license, and for 30 days following numbers under which they are suppher or consultant). subcontractor or
a

license termmation.
approved are as follows: any employee of a contractor orS NWe: Copies of N1tC Form 3 may be (1)In 55 30.32. 30.37, and 30.38. NRC subcontractor, of any licensee, whooldeised by wmes to the Regional

Administrator of the appropriate U S. Form 313 is approved under control knowmgly provides to any licensee.
Nuclear Regulatomy Commission Restonal number 3150-0120. contractor, or subcontractor.

$,AD'd[o'[,P**d''Mc"In (2) In 5 30.36. NRC Form 314 is components, equipment. matenals. or
p c,,

approved under control number 3150- other goods or services, that relate to aand Records Manssement Branch tielephone
na iJoni 4ttmog 0028. licetisee's activities sublect to this part:

-
_

may not:
(1) Engsge in deliberate misconduct

(f) No egreement effecting the that causes or, but for detection. would
compensation, terms, conditions or have caused. a licensee to be in
privileges of employment. including an violation of any rule. regulation. or
agreement to settle a complaint filed by order, or any term. condition. or
an employee with the Department of limitation of any license. Issued by the
Labor pursuant to section 211 of the Commission. or

g Energy Reorganization Act of 1974. ss 5 (2) Deliberately submit to the NRC. a
amended may contam any provision 5,e I censee. or a licensee's contractor or l,

which would prohibit, restrtet, or !

E subcontractor, information that the$ otherwise discourage en employee fromJ
-

3 participating in protected activity as 8308 C' * *k''"''' * "d ** * "' ** F a f ' a ' $ person submittmg the informahon
f*'**"*"- knows to be incomplete or maccurate in

,

defined in paragraph (s)(1) of this
m (at Informauon provided to the some respect matenal to the NRC.section including.but not limited to.

providing information to the NRC or to y Commission by an applicant for a h' (b) A person who violates paragraphI

'
his or her employer on potential ; '',",*j,,',' ,",Y ,* 'y,nseor oy [n"e c mNs (a)(1) or (a)(2) of this section may be, ,t
violations or other matters within NRC's ' sion s resulauons. orders, or heense subject to enforcement action in
regulatory responsibilities. 3 conditions to be maintained by the ap- accordance with the procedures in to

pucant or the licensee shall be com. CFR part 2. subpart R-.-

e and accurate in all material re-; (c) For purposes of paragraph (a)(1) of
this section. deliberate misconduct by a
person means an mtentional act or
omission that the person knows:

(1) Would cause a licensee to be in
violation of any rule, regulation. or
order, or any term. condition, or
limitation. of any license issued by the
Commission. or

(2) Constitutes a violation of a ;

requirement. procedure, instruction, j

contract purchase order or policy of a,

licensee. contractor, or subcontractor.
j
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